

Abbott v. Abbott: Is a Ne Exeat Right a "Right of Custody" Under the Hague Convention?

name redacted

Legislative Attorney

March 4, 2010

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R41094

Summary

International child custody disputes figure to increase in frequency as the global society becomes more integrated and mobile. A child custody dispute between two parents can become a diplomatic imbroglio between two countries. Thus in 2000, Members of Congress and Vice President Al Gore backed legislation to grant Cuban refugee Elian Gonzalez permanent residency status, even after President Fidel Castro demanded the boy's return. More recently, in the 111th Congress, both houses passed resolutions (S.Res. 37 and H.R. 125) calling on the Brazilian government to return Sean Goldman, the son of New Jersey resident David Goldman, to the United States.

In the case of the Goldman family, the father's legal argument for return was based on the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction ("Hague Convention"). This treaty was entered into force in the United States in 1988, and has since been the principal mechanism for enforcing parental rights in international custody disputes. However, judicial interpretation of certain Hague Convention provisions has been inconsistent among federal Circuit Courts of Appeals. The lives of one British-American family—the Abbotts—and the lives of families similarly situated may be affected by how the United States Supreme Court resolves this circuit split in *Abbott v. Abbott*.

In this case, the Court will determine whether a *ne exeat*, or "no exit" order granting one parent the right to veto another parent's decision to remove their child from his or her home country is a "right of custody" under the Hague Convention. Such a determination is necessary to determine the Convention's applicability, as it only provides for a child's return to the country which issued the *ne exeat* order if the removal was "wrongful" and in breach of "rights of custody."

This report discusses the circuit split on the treaty interpretation issue, the arguments made before the Supreme Court in *Abbott*, and the significance of the case.

Contents

Background	1
Hague Convention	1
Abbott v. Abbott	2
District Court Opinion	3
Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals Opinion	
The Second Circuit Opinion: Croll v. Croll	4
The Croll Court's Textual Analysis of the Hague Convention	
Practical Considerations and Extratextual Sources in Croll	
Dissenting Opinion	
The Eleventh Circuit Opinion: Furnes v. Reeves	7
Arguments Before the U.S. Supreme Court	7
Significance of Supreme Court's Decision	9

Contacts

thor Contact Information

Background

International child custody disputes figure to increase in frequency as the global society becomes more integrated and mobile. What is more, a child custody dispute between two parents can become a diplomatic imbroglio between two countries.

In *Abbott v. Abbott*¹ the U.S. Supreme Court will address an issue that has divided the Circuit Courts of Appeals: Whether a *ne exeat* right² is a "right of custody" for purposes of the Hague Convention? If so, parents with a *ne exeat* right can demand the return of their child "wrongfully" taken from the family's home country.

In September 2008, the Fifth Circuit ruled that a *ne exeat* right is not a "right of custody" and therefore the removal of a child in violation of *ne exeat* order is not "wrongful."³ The Supreme Court is now confronted with a four-to-one circuit split: the Second, Ninth, Fourth, and now Fifth Circuits have ruled that a *ne exeat* right is not a "right of custody,"⁴ while the Eleventh Circuit has reached the opposite conclusion.⁵

Hague Convention

The Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction ("Hague Convention")⁶ protects children from wrongful removal across international borders and provides procedures to aid in their safe return. While the Convention has been the principal mechanism for enforcing the return of abducted children to the United States, it is not without limitations. First, its procedures are inapplicable and/or unenforceable in nonsignatory nations. Second, it does not act as an extradition treaty, nor does it purport to adjudicate the merits of a custody dispute.⁷ It is merely a civil remedy⁸ designed to preserve the status quo by facilitating the return of an abducted child to the country of his or her "habitual residence" and allowing the judicial authorities in that country to adjudicate the merits of a custody dispute. As such, the proceeding is brought in the country to which the child was abducted or in which the child is retained.⁹

¹ Abbott v. Abbott, 542 F.3d 1081 (5th Cir. 2008), cert. granted, 129 S. Ct. 2859 (2009).

² A *ne exeat* right is the right of one parent to veto another parent's decision to remove their child from their home country. *Abbott*, 542 F.3d at 1082. The right can be conferred by a judicial order or by statute, or both. *See id.*

³ Abbott, 542 F.3d at 1082.

⁴ Croll v. Croll, 229 F.3d 133 (2d Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 949 (2001); Gonzales v. Guiterrez; 11 F.3d 942 (9th Cir. 2002); Fawcett v. McRoberts, 326 F.3d 491 (4th Cir. 2003).

⁵ Furnes v. Reeves, 362 F.3d 702 (11th Cir.) cert. denied, 543 U.S. 978 (2004).

⁶ Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects International Child Abduction, 51 Fed. Reg. 10,494 (Mar. 26, 1986).

⁷ Article 19 of the Hague Convention states that "[a] decision under this Convention concerning the return of the child shall not be taken as a determination on the merits of any custody issue." *Id.*, art. 19, at 10,503.

⁸ The Hague Convention is a "private civil legal mechanism," and as such, "the parents, not the governments are parties to the legal action." Bureau of Consular Affairs, U.S. Dep't of State, Pub. No. 10489, International Parental Child Abduction 9 (1997).

⁹ When a child of a custodial parent in another country is abducted to the United States, the parent has the option of asking the court in the jurisdiction in which the child is found to enforce the foreign custody degree.

Although domestic relations involve issues typically governed by state law, the federal statute implementing the Hague Convention explicitly confers jurisdiction on the federal courts.¹⁰

Procedures and remedies available under the Convention differ depending on the parental rights infringed. Under Article 3 of the Hague Convention, the removal of a child is "wrongful" when "it is in breach of rights of custody attributed to a person, an institution or any other body, either jointly or alone, under the law of the State in which the child was habitually resident immediately before the removal or retention;" and "at the time of removal or retention those rights were actually exercised, either jointly or alone, or would have been so exercised but for the removal or retention."¹¹

Thus, there are two elements to a claim that the child's removal was "wrongful" under Article 3: (1) the removal was in breach of "rights of custody"; and (2) those rights were "actually exercised" at the time of the removal, or would have been but for the removal.

Article 5 in turn defines "rights of custody," and distinguishes those rights from "rights of access":

(a) "rights of custody" shall include rights relating to the care of the person of the child and, in particular, the right to determine the child's place of residence;

(b) "rights of access" shall include the right to take a child for a limited period of time to a place other than the child's habitual residence.¹²

Critically, the treaty provides for the return of the child only if a parent's *custody* rights have been violated.¹³ Parents deprived of their rights of access have the less robust remedy provided for in Article 21 of "mak[ing] arrangements" with the Department of State to secure effective exercise of their rights.¹⁴ Thus, at the heart of *Abbott* is the father's claim that a *ne exeat* right is a right of custody under the Hague Convention, and that this right was violated by the child's removal from Chile without his consent.

Abbott v. Abbott

The Abbott family—Timothy Abbott, Jacquelyn Abbot, and their son—had resided in La Serena, Chile, since 2002.¹⁵ The parents separated in March 2003, and during the successive several months the Chilean courts issued several orders regarding the parents' custody rights.¹⁶ The first order granted Mr. Abbott visitation rights.¹⁷ The second order, at the center of the *Abbott* case,

¹⁰ International Child Abduction Remedies Act, 42 U.S.C. § 11603(a).

¹¹ Hague Convention, *supra* note 6, art. 3. The rights of custody mentioned in subparagraph (a) may arise "in particular by operation of law or by reason of a judicial or administrative decision, or by reason of an agreement having legal effect under the law of that State." *Id.*

¹² *Id.* at art. 5.

¹³ *Id.* at art. 1 & 3.

¹⁴ *Id.* at art. 21.

¹⁵ *Abbott*, 542 F.3d at 1082.

¹⁶ Id.

¹⁷ Id.

was a *ne exeat* or "no exit" order, entered by the court at the request of the mother, providing that neither parent could remove the child from Chile without the consent of the other parent.¹⁸ Finally, a third order denied the father's request for custody rights, and granted all custodial rights to the mother.¹⁹ In August 2005, without notice, in the midst of disputes over visitation and other issues, the mother removed the child to Texas without the father's consent in contravention of the Chilean court's *ne exeat* order, as well as Chilean statutory law that by default confers *ne exeat* rights on non-custodial parents.²⁰

District Court Opinion

As the District Court for the Western District of Texas recognized, Mr. Abbott's visitation rights conferred by Chilean court order amount to rights of access: he is permitted to take the child from the child's habitual home for a limited period.²¹ But, relying on the language and structure of Article 5, the court concluded that Mr. Abbott does not have rights of custody. Therefore, the removal of his child from Chile was not "wrongful" under the Hague Convention.

The court began by stating that *ne exeat* rights are not encompassed by Article 5's definition of "rights of custody." That is, *ne exeat* rights do not accord Mr. Abbott any rights "relating to the care of [the child's] person."²² The court further concluded that the right to "determine" the child's place of residence refers to a right to decide the child's specific place of residence, rather than merely a right to veto prospective places of residence.²³ Finally, the court cited the Ninth Circuit's argument that a *ne exeat* right is not embraced by the plain meaning of "custody,"²⁴ and added that a *ne exeat* right does not give Mr. Abbott a say on any "child-rearing issue" besides the child's geographic location.²⁵

The court also emphasized the structure of Article 5. The court found a "clear intent" to both distinguish between custody rights and access rights, and to provide greater protection for parents

¹⁸ Id.

¹⁹ *Id.* The fact that Mrs. Abbott was granted "full custodial rights" by court order seems to foreclose the argument that Mr. Abbott has a right of custody under the Hague Convention by virtue of the *ne exeat* order. However, both Mr. Abbot and the United States, as amicus curiae, argue that the phrase "rights of custody" is to be given an "autonomous" interpretation—that is, a court should determine whether the substance of a particular right under the home country's law amounts to a custody right under the Convention, rather than how the particular country has described the right. *See* Brief for Petitioner Timothy Mark Cameron Abbott, at 3, *Abbott v. Abbott*, 129 S. Ct. 2859 (2008) (No. 08-645) (citing drafting materials of the Hague Convention); *see also* Brief for the United States at 12, as Amicus Curiae Supporting Petitioner, *Abbott v. Abbott*, 129 S. Ct. 2859 (2008) (No. 08-645) (same).

The Chilean courts also issued a fourth order in February, 2005 expanding Mr. Abbott's visitation rights. *Abbott*, 542 F.3d at 1082.

²⁰ *Abbott*, 542 F.3d at 1082.

²¹ See Abbott v. Abbott, 495 F. Supp. 2d 635, 640 (W.D. Tex. 2007); see also Brief for Respondent Jacquelyn Vaye Abbott, at 7, Abbott v. Abbott, 129 S. Ct. 2859 (2008) (No. 08-645).

²² See Abbott, 495 F. Supp. 2d at 639.

²³ See id. at 640 (citing Croll v. Croll, 229 F.3d 133, 139 (2d Cir. 2000)).

²⁴ "That [the] father can refuse permission for his children to leave Mexico 'hardly amounts to a right of custody, in the plainest sense of the term.'" *Abbott*, 495 F. Supp. 2d 635 at 640 (quoting *Gonzales v. Guiterrez*, 311 F.3d 942, 949 (9th Cir. 2002)).

²⁵ Abbott, 495 F. Supp. 2d at 640 (quotations omitted).

with custody rights. Therefore, the court concluded that ordering the return of Mr. and Mrs. Abbott's child to Chile would be "inappropriate."²⁶

Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals Opinion

The Fifth Circuit affirmed the district court's decision on September 16, 2008. Its opinion was essentially a description of the circuit split and a summary of the district court's reasoning. Not until the penultimate paragraph did the court conclude that it found persuasive the Second Circuit's reasoning that the Hague Convention distinguished between rights of custody and rights of access.²⁷

The Second Circuit Opinion: Croll v. Croll²⁸

In *Croll*, a father sued their child's mother seeking an order pursuant to the Hague Convention that the child was removed from Hong Kong in violation of a court order and be returned to Hong Kong. The District Court for the Southern District of New York ordered return of the child.²⁹ Mrs. Croll appealed. The Second Circuit held in *Croll v. Croll* that *ne exeat* rights are not "rights of custody" for purposes of the Hague Convention. In conducting what is the most extensive analysis of the five circuit courts to address the issue, the *Croll* majority relied on the text of the Hague Convention, its drafting history, and practical considerations to reach its conclusion.

The Croll Court's Textual Analysis of the Hague Convention

The bulk of the *Croll* court's analysis was textual. Citing multiple dictionaries, the court concluded that custody of a child "entails the primary duty and ability to choose and give sustenance, shelter, clothing, moral and spiritual guidance, medical attention, education, etc., or the (revocable) selection of other people or institutions to give these things."³⁰ The court left to implication the obvious conclusion that flows from this definition of "custody": the father's *ne exeat* rights do not permit him to take a "primary" role in any facet of his son's upbringing, and so he does not have rights of "custody" as that word is ordinarily understood.

The majority further noted that Articles 3 and 5 refer to the plural "rights." Under the Hague Convention, the removal of a child is wrongful when "it is in breach of rights of custody," and moreover, "rights of custody' shall include rights relating to the care of the person of the child."³¹ This language, the majority argued, refers to a "bundle" of rights exercised by someone holding

²⁶ *Id.* at 641.

²⁷ Abbott, 542 F.3d at 1087.

²⁸ 229 F.3d 133 (2d Cir. 2000), *cert denied*, 543 U.S. 949 (2001). Because the Fourth and Ninth Circuits reached the same conclusion as the Second Circuit, and did so mainly by adopting its reasoning, this report does not discuss those opinions separately. *See Fawcett v. McRoberts*, 326 F.3d 491, 499 (4th Cir. 2003); *see also Gonzales v. Guiterrez*; 11 F.3d 942 (9th Cir. 2002).

²⁹ 66 F.Supp.2d 554 (SDNY 1999).

³⁰ Croll, 229 F.3d at 138.

³¹ Hague Convention, *supra* note 6, art. 3 & 5.

custody, which means that a person who holds only a single right—such as a veto right over removal of the child from his home country—cannot hold custody.³²

Turning to the second clause of Article 5(a) ("'rights of custody' shall include rights relating to the care of the person of the child *and, in particular, the right to determine the child's place of residence*"), the court observed that the function of that language is to offer a prominent example of a "right of custody."³³ Because "custody" entails the primary care and control of a child, the argument continued, the "determine" clause must refer to a right to choose a specific place of residence within a country if it is to be a useful example of a right of custody.³⁴ Decisional rights relating to the child's care and upbringing entail more specific choices than the determination of which country a child resides in, such as whether the child lives in a city, a suburb, or countryside, or whether the child attends boarding school or military school. Therefore, if "the right to determine the place of the child's residence" is an apt example of a right of custody, "place of residence" must refer to a specific place within a country.

The final point the court made about the "determine" clause of Article 5(a) was that the word "determine" denotes a power to *choose* a certain outcome, not merely a right to veto a certain outcome.³⁵ Again, the court established this meaning by referencing two dictionaries.³⁶

Concluding its textual analysis, the court found support in paragraph (b) of Article 3, which provides that a removal in breach of custody rights is wrongful only if "at the time of removal or retention those rights were actually exercised, either jointly or alone, or would have been so exercised but for the removal or retention."³⁷ Of course, the complainant-parent in *Croll* was not exercising his *ne exeat* rights at the time of his child's removal, and the court maintained that it was "circular" to say he would have exercised those rights but for the removal.³⁸

Practical Considerations and Extratextual Sources in Croll

The majority buttressed the meaning it gave to *ne exeat* rights by arguing that an alternative meaning would render the Hague Convention "unworkable."³⁹ The court offered a hypothetical to illustrate. If the court ordered the return of the child to the home country, Mrs. Croll would be under no legal obligation to return with the child. Further, Mr. Croll has only *ne exeat* rights, and is not charged with the duties of the child's primary care and custody. Thus, if the court ordered the return of the child based solely on a breach of *ne exeat* rights, the child would not necessarily be returned to a person or institution with a legal obligation to care for the child's person. This result was unfathomable, the court asserted.⁴⁰

 $^{^{32}}$ Croll, 229 F.3d at 139. This syntactic argument is inapplicable when, as in Croll and similar cases, there is a parent who possesses both a *ne exeat* right and visitation rights. But the majority was rebutting the contention that a *ne exeat* right alone constitutes "rights of custody."

³³ Id.

³⁴ Id.

³⁵ Id.

³⁶ Id.

³⁷ Hague Convention, *supra* note 6, art. 3.

³⁸ Croll, 229 F.3d at 140.

³⁹ Id.

⁴⁰ *Id.* at 140-41.

Finally, the majority examined extratextual material. The most convincing of these was a piece of scholarship, authored by the chair of the international organization that drafted the Hague Convention, asserting that a *ne exeat* right was not a right of custody.⁴¹ As the dissent recognized, the other materials cited by the majority stood "for the unremarkable proposition" that the Convention meant to distinguish between custody rights and access rights.⁴² This distinction is not helpful in answering the question of which right Mr. Abbott has. But establishing an intention to make such a distinction supported the majority's jurisprudential argument that ordering the return of a child even though the complainant had no custody rights would be an unwarranted judicial "substitution" of access rights for custody rights.⁴³

Dissenting Opinion

Then-Court of Appeals Judge Sonia Sotomayor dissented in *Croll*. Unwilling to be constrained by the majority's "parochial" definition of "custody,"⁴⁴ Judge Sotomayor determined that the phrase "rights of custody" embraced a *ne exeat* right by drawing heavily on the object and purpose of the Hague Convention.

That purpose, gleaned from the treaty drafting materials, was to thwart a forum-shopping parent's aim to flout the custody law of the child's home country.⁴⁵ In other words, the Hague Convention is meant to ensure that custody disputes are resolved in the home country rather than a foreign country with potentially laxer custody law and enforcement. Her dissent thus concluded that this purpose would be served by returning a child in cases where a physical custody right is violated as well as cases where a *ne exeat* right is violated, because both rights are expressions of the home country's "custody law."⁴⁶

Continuing with its purposive analysis, the dissent faulted the majority's treatment of Article 5(a)'s "determine" clause for ignoring the international character of the Hague Convention.⁴⁷ That clause must refer to the broader decision as to whether the child will live in England or the United States, for example, because that is precisely the type of decision the Hague Convention is meant to protect.

Judge Sotomayor responded to the majority's argument that interpreting a *ne exeat* right as a custody right would render the Hague Convention "unworkable." She noted that the majority's argument mistakenly assumed that a custody order is the sole source of a parent's duties to care for the child.⁴⁸ Instead, parental duties may arise from "many sources," such as the internal law of the home country.⁴⁹ Moreover, Judge Sotomayor was skeptical of the majority's fear that a father

⁴¹ *Id*. at 141.

⁴² *Id.* at 149-50.

⁴³ *See id.* at 142.

⁴⁴ *Id.* at 145.

 $^{^{45}}$ *Id.* at 147. This report uses the term "home country" in place of the treaty's language ("the State in which the child was habitually resident immediately before the removal or retention"). Hague Convention, *supra* note 6, art. 1. ⁴⁶ *Id.*

⁴⁷ Id.

 $^{^{48}}$ *Id.* at 148.

⁴⁹ Id.

would travel across the world to get his child back, and then "simply permit his child to stand abandoned in the airport upon her return."⁵⁰

Judge Sotomayor also addressed the decisions of sister-signatories that have taken up the issue. While acknowledging that there is not a perfect consensus in favor of her interpretation, most foreign courts have interpreted a *ne exeat* right as a right of custody (including "some biggies," as Justice Scalia put it during *Abbott*'s oral argument, such as the House of Lords⁵¹).

The Eleventh Circuit Opinion: Furnes v. Reeves⁵²

The *Furnes* court dealt with the same interpretative issue taken up by *Croll*, but came to the contrary conclusion that a *ne exeat* right is a right of custody.

Akin to Judge Sotomayor's reasoning in *Croll*, the *Furnes* majority interpreted "place of residence" in light of the Hague Convention's purpose. Because the object of the treaty is to deter and remedy international abduction, "the right to determine the child's place of residence" must include a right to decide the country the child lives in.⁵³

But the *Furnes* court argued that in any event a *ne exeat* right confers a right to determine the child's place of residence in the narrower sense as well. The court argued that a veto right encompasses an effective right to determine a specific place of residence because a parent could grant consent to the child's international relocation on the condition that the child reside in a particular city, or even a particular house.⁵⁴

The court cemented its analysis by seizing on Article 5(a)'s use of "relating." Even assuming a *ne exeat* right is not a right to "determine" the child's place of residence, the majority observed, it is at least a right *relating* to the care of the child's person, as well as a right *relating* to the determination of the child's place of residence.⁵⁵

Arguments Before the U.S. Supreme Court

The briefs filed in the Supreme Court largely mirrored the thrusts and parries of the majority and dissenting opinions in *Croll* and *Furnes*. Mrs. Abbott argued that the "ordinary meaning" of "custody" entails the primary ability to give physical care to the child, and therefore did not encompass a *ne exeat* right.⁵⁶ She further argued that a *ne exeat* right was not a right to

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 149 n.4.

⁵¹ Transcript of Oral Argument, *Abbott v. Abbott*, 129 S. Ct. 2859, 44 (No. 08-645). Justice Scalia was referring to *In re* D (*A Child*), (2007) 1 A.C. 619, ¶ 37 (H.L. 2006).

⁵² 362 F.3d 702 (11th Cir., 2004).

⁵³ *Furnes*, 362 F.3d at 715.

⁵⁴ Id.

⁵⁵ Id. at 716

⁵⁶ Brief for Respondent, *supra* note 21, at 18.

"determine the place of residence," because that phrase refers to a child's "specific living quarters."⁵⁷

Mr. Abbott recited the purposive argument employed in the *Croll* dissent and the *Furnes* majority. The Hague Convention was concerned with the removal of children from their home country, that argument goes, and so "place of residence" must have an international meaning rather than an in*tra*national one.⁵⁸ Mr. Abbott also argued that in any case the holder of a *ne exeat* right has the right to determine the "place of residence" in the narrower sense. Borrowing the logic of the *Furnes* court, Mr. Abbott noted that the parent could grant consent to the child's international relocation on the condition that the child reside in a particular place within the new country.⁵⁹

Finally, Mr. Abbott argued that by withholding consent and requiring the child to stay in one country the parent exercises control over important decisions about upbringing such as which language the child will speak and the political climate in which the child is raised.⁶⁰ This, Mr. Abbott asserted, shows that a *ne exeat* right was a right of "custody" even under the meaning that Mrs. Abbott gives that word.

In addition to rearticulating the arguments of lower courts, Mrs. Abbott made a novel argument regarding the historical and theoretical underpinnings of *ne exeat* rights. Mrs. Abbott urged the court to conceptualize a *ne exeat* right as a power of the state—not a parent—that is meant to preserve the state's ability to enforce the law.⁶¹ This, she maintained, was consistent with the history of the *ne exeat* writ.⁶² Further, the United States has codified this conception of *ne exeat* in statute ("The district courts of the United States ... shall have such jurisdiction to make and issue in civil actions, writs ... of *ne exeat republica* ... as may be necessary or appropriate for the enforcement of the internal revenue laws").⁶³ Thus, Mrs. Abbott concluded, a violation of a *ne exeat* order or statute frustrates the state's jurisdiction rather than a right of a private person.⁶⁴

The parties also disputed the weight of authority from signatory courts. Assessing the position of the international community on this treaty issue depends largely on which foreign decisions one counts as relevant. Thus, Mrs. Abbott emphasized that only seven courts of last resort have spoken to the issue, and those courts came to conflicting conclusions.⁶⁵ In contrast, Mr. Abbott cited at least nine foreign courts that have rendered opinions in accord with his interpretation.⁶⁶ He also explained away much of the asserted dissonance among foreign courts by noting that the

⁶² Id.

⁶³ 26 U.S.C. § 7402(a)

⁶⁴ Id.

⁵⁷ Id.

⁵⁸ Brief for Petitioner, *supra* note 19, at 14.

⁵⁹ *Id.* (citing *Furnes*, 362 F.3d at 715).

⁶⁰ Brief for Petitioner, *supra* note 19, at 15-16.

⁶¹ Brief for Respondent, *supra* note 21, at 40.

⁶⁵ Brief for Respondent, *supra* note 21, at 53 (citing *Thompson v. Thompson*, [1994] 3 S.C.R. 551 (Can.); *D.S. v. V.W.*, [1996] 2 S.C.R. 108 (Can.)).

⁶⁶ Brief for Petitioner, *supra* note 19, at 32-36 (citing *C v. C*, (1989) 1 W.L.R. 654 (Eng. C.A.); *In re D (A Child)*, (2007) 1 A.C. 619, ¶ 37 (H.L. 2006); H.C. 92 *Tournai v. Mechoulam* [1993] IsrSC; *Sonderup v. Tondelli* 2000 (1) SA 1171 (CC) (S. Afr.); *M.S.H. v. L.H.*, 2000 3 IR 390 (Ir.); Oberster Gerichtshof [OGH] [Supreme Ct.] May 2, 1992, 20b596/91 (Austria); Bundesverfassungsgericht [BVerfG] [Fed. Const'1 Ct. of Germany] July 18, 1997, 2 BvR 1126/97 (F.R.G.); *In the Marriage of José Garcia Resina and Muriel Ghislaine Henriette Resina* (1991) App. No. 52, 1991 (Fam.) (Austl.); *AJ v. FJ* [2005] CSIH 36 (Scot.); *Gross v. Boda* (1995) 1 NZLR 569 (C.A. Wellington) (N.Z.)).

conclusions favoring Mrs. Abbott in two opinions by the Supreme Court of Canada were merely dicta.⁶⁷ He further noted that although a French trial court held that *ne exeat* does not amount to a custody right, a French appellate court in a separate case held to the contrary.⁶⁸

Significance of Supreme Court's Decision

The Supreme Court's decision will address the question of whether the Hague Convention requires the return of a child to the home country if the child was removed to the United States in violation of a *ne exeat* order or statute. However, various other issues regarding the treaty will remain unresolved. For example, the Hague Convention will still be susceptible to conflicting applications around the world to the extent interpretations by foreign courts depart from the one handed down in *Abbott*. Further, if the Supreme Court holds that *ne exeat* rights are not rights of custody, a Chilean court may respond by amending the Abbotts' custody order to clarify that *ne exeat* rights are in fact rights of custody under Chilean law. Other signatory countries may likewise amend their law to provide that they are custody rights.⁶⁹ Also, while the *ne exeat*-physical custody arrangement at issue in *Abbott* is a common one, it is not the only one implemented by courts in child custody disputes. *Abbott* will not address which side of the access-custody line these other arrangements fall on. Finally, a practical issue remains: the political problem of noncompliance by some signatories.⁷⁰

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Legislative Attorney [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

⁶⁷ Brief for Petitioner, *supra* note 19, at 38 (citing *Thompson v. Thompson*, [1994] 3 S.C.R. 551 (Can.); *D.S. v. V.W.*, [1996] 2 S.C.R. 108 (Can.)).

⁶⁸ Brief for Petitioner, *supra* note 19, at 37 (citing Decision of 23 Mar. 1989, *Public Ministry v. M.B.*, C.A. Aix-en-Provence, 6e ch., Mar. 23, 1989, Rev. crit. dr. internat. Privé 79(3), juill.-sept. 1990, 529, 533-35, note Lequette)).

⁶⁹ However, whether such a declaration by a Chilean court should have any effect on the application of the treaty is a point of dispute between the parties. *See supra* note 19.

⁷⁰ See generally UNITED STATES DEP'T OF STATE, REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE HAGUE CONVENTION ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION (2009), *available at* http://travel.state.gov/pdf/2009HagueAbductionConventionComplianceReport.pdf.

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.